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COURT 07 GETMZIAL SESSIOTTS O1 .T.T;t4 pzAcE 
CITY AND COUNTY OF tagir YORK, 

• OS l**# # • • • • • • • • • • • • • * 4 • • 

T4,E PEOPLE OF Tia. TATE OP 1.41114.if YORK: 

-against-

PAUL DRISKA. 

'Indictment i1ed the 17th day of aanuarr 1910. 

Xndicted or violation Of Section 2,460 -SUb-diviSiOn 

2 Pena Law, 

Appearavoc.., 

For .Peoplc: 11.010 ant Diptrict Attorney .APPleton, and 

DePutY Abeistant pistrict Attor-

nay riliard U. Eliizon, 

r..Doi7end4ntt garry rCopp vo IenrY Erntin 

Tr404 be.f.ore 

OTQA ROSAUXY* Judge, 

and a JOrYs 

OA the First of February 1910. 

the peoP1P, beino duly sworn and examined testified 



•sworn to act as Interpreter. A f011OWS: 

BY MR. ELLISON; 

Mere doyou live," A At the present time t 

10th Street Mrs Minor's. 

BOVi old are you  A 18. 

CI How lona hav.e you been living in this count 

It was tvto years last Octobers 

Where did you come from? A Vrom trunaary Xtiropes 

Ci Are  you here alone or with your parents? 

Objected to at  iiicomt,tont, irrelevant and imrntea 

Overruled and exception.. 

All alono; 

Q

 

hat did: $rou do after your.. arrival here? A I went 

work in .4 az servant 

mci yoU4 continue that krtd o to December 

Same jection -rizline and ,excepti n., 

A . 'Teo. pir 

q Valero two tho. .aat place, that>j: 

•a domestioc A 178 pecond Avenue. 

Q, With. whom? A r1 Benlcisman.. 

q Bow long harl, you been working 

mon 

u were employe 

..lere? A Your 



Row much h.a4 you been receiving a month? - 

Objected to as immaterial, 

THE COVET: How material is that? 

vat =ISOM I will show that. 

Objection overruled. Ireceptiori., 

Pirst .off 15 and then 410 a.mont 

Do you AMOV the defendant Paul. Prenka? A Yes 

Q When and lthere did you first meet him? A A friend: 

of his intrQduced net,6 him .on the corner of 8th Street* 

About how longprior toMecomber 29th 1909? A 

B. EOPPI I understand her to r a friend of 

his int CA•duced 

TILE t771 VIA% • A friend t Itiao 

TAR iRiPP: I movc to trike :Lt -ou .a conOlu-

THE OTYRT: Yes That is a conclusion.. '"t 1.4.0 

it Out 

BY 

4 About ttew long 1)efore 7x:comber 29th l ? A About 

aut months btrZore Iteeembdr 26th 1969* 

Between the tine that you ziwt him and th 2ctb ot 

December 1909 b,01,7 2.requentlr did you see- the d.W,7.'endant 

r*erlita, A. .X zaw, h&,Ociinet, au every dar but I did not speak 



•q Beside*. Iseeing.htm.did yoU:Over-oemmunioate with him' 

by phone or by 'letter?. 

..Objeoted..to*k• incompetent, irreLevantand Immaterial: 

frip;. COURT: • .yrith _whom?-. 

.31,1,TSON4 The. ..d.etandant •Drenkta* 

TIfl COURT: I ustain;:-.7the •objectiOn • 

Did you'll:aye ..axiy other -ezmunioatiOn with him beSideb'... 

ooeing h 

Objectedto ppon • the same.grOundS, 

Overruled and exception  

Sometime through the telephone, 

TIM COW: Ono moment, Bef.ore that anSwer 

.admit ed you ci1i. balro to sh0w whether she 

_redognise the vole? Of 0.0 dO0n4auta 

14a IPAISON::I 4U oonsent t; 

trieken out* 

-Trin ODURP: Strike it out 

COURT z 
plan vas the 0• 0 the 14ret meetirx•g? 

ELLIOOTTI 

At mat yao 44,0 o • tik ir t e et rifs with Vile 

dofeMant P ka? bort 

Q Mat jo..tho taate ae near am .tott can remember? A 

It, the•wita wer 

laleviti it Iv a n OUnday:•r couldn, t tell yoU Wpat d 



.or ,what 

Viben waz the 3.eogst, time that you eaw the defendint 

prior to the 29th dal of Pecember 190c). A The -day before 

the 29th dair ofDe.cember. 

:Can you tell us when you .left Mrs. Uendelemaii mhere 

you were'working aa a domestic?. A ,December 23rd. about 

clocic.in the .afternoon. 

ct- Vihen had you .seen he defendant. 4xenka $.1 at .al 

•before that time, when waa ih.e• last time? , 

Objected to, as 'having be en .already anewered 

TAR. 1T4IS011,t Not this queston,t, X aaked.her 

when oho 00(.40. defendant Tweior to:her leaving Mrs. Ke4-

delaman' 

Objectoci t act incotipcat., rrelev.ant and irmra.-

ter14* *5,U:ruled 1:41d .ittreet-tj.on! 

1,)2e.lieire it is two &yø bofore I 3:pft the place. 

Q Md. you -have xi* converuation trith.411,m at that t. me? 

.41 1To 

33i THE cgire.1 
-.014 h tt.eatythiw to yOtt or did you. oar any np; to 

lark"? A About. .tour -or film 0.a7r n'reiii0us to tlie day I left, 

the oitioi Z tad 11440 

TRY COUP; 73o) twp aayo before you left the 

emil,opiont'ettl the elefonOrint _Ow i.21 thiw to TOU Or 



6 

did you 13 asr anything to hitl? A r did npt speak: to btu 

about anYthing: at that tie—'only four days bear* 

that.. 

et Did he dozr anything to you? A Ile told me that if 

y job a too heavy for me he will give me an easier pOsi-

tion. 

BY MR.. rizISON: 

.Did you see him three or Pour days before you loft  

Rendelsman? A To 

ci Now what did you say to him and what did he say to 7 

at that time if anything? A I told him that my :position; 

was too hard for 4,na he ohould look.; for lie for an easier. 

Q What did ho $ay Ilo• told 1.7,-Le. it ila all, right. 

How •gh.at ii ny other :convertiat,xon d:id. you have 

with him at any time prior to your.Ieavints Mr.liendeloman, 

in regard to your le4vin.g. 1..!rs Randelsmanist? 

W. KOPP .1' objciot unleSs time is fixed. 

THE .04)u1 X overrule the objcOtion for the nees-

The 'time *.a.1.11 be fixed later on. 

MR. OPP; ...It is. very indefi.ni'4e• 

TEE rt0Tra tI understand . but he will follow 

ricoovtio 



TITE WITNESS; He told me, that he always wted as 

to • work easier. than I am working now. 

BY MR., IILISON: 

Bid he .ever tell you what he meant,-by working 

easier?, A That I should be a waitress it is.Mi'lloh eu.er1. 

PP I obje t as irresponsive-; The answer. 

is either yes or no. 

Objection overruled, xcepti n. 

• ,101.   

Had you ha4 any conversation with him -in regard tc 

the amount of money that you were -'making each inniaih?., 

COUR • Fin. .the tve whcm thiti 1ast ootiverlaft' 

tion W3had* 

3Y 7.1R4 ELLISOTP; 

0, When ‘aap •that• lawt conversation had 

. Brenka that yeu, 31.6,v.e juot tegitifie abOut7 A' 

d r before I left iv' Ijoition. 

044 any talk vith ;cion .about the amount 

ey that you verb makint at rro Itendelstnants? 

Ob °tot% tt at; leadina, incompetent irrelevant and 

imm4terial. kVerrta od excentions 

ort nOvOr 

What IMP tit 441t tt4t you 1 

A It ma On tlau 23'ii 

t liondeloriani 

Lireoember on i.i.•Thurskday. 

Did 7011. cot V20 defon(lant ren that day? A y• 



Where? - I saw him 'in the place Where I went to on 

West 21 t Street. 

Describe that place? A It was a private house. 

Objocted to as incompetent, and immaterial. 

THE COI:1M I sustain the objection, for . the present 

and the answer will be stricken out. 

BY THE COURT; -

(1 'Who went with  you to West 21st Street? ,A 1(411gOld 

came up fOr iby baage and we went up there together. 

MR. KOP.P.: If your Honor please this indictment 

charges- th'e defendak with being in -a libuse i "Otte 

'Street. I do not see what 21st Street place has to dO 

with it. 

wasogg. .Theit is right, 

Otilrfat Strike out the reference to the 

premises. on West .21st Stfeet •a,nd thatliango1d..breUgh... 

• 'her •therei amd the Tury will d.isregard• the ...evidence* 

.BY ML ZLI$Oh 

Did. you,-hv any conversation With 'him that 400* ,wit)1 

ths de endant Drenkal.. Tea,* 

Q. Mat.- did he to you awl .v.ely.td you .say to -WA 
• ••,. • • , 

A He told .m.0 to tq thoro until.. .p will find another 



evidence, that she ever was in 21st Street. 

I do not see the materiality  of thi 

witnesse, Why. not try the issue laid in the indictment  

When was the next time that you. saw the defendant 

Drenka./ A 

MR. • KOPPi t date* 

BY MR, I21,141SON:' 

Q After the date you testified .as having left Iti*e 

ou aaw him two dayst441ater that 'right? 

Object as leading she has not WW1 

that. You ask her what date and then you say' two days 

later, 

ML 31.',LISOIT: She testified she saw him that day., 

the, day she left Mrs. Rendelsmants 'house, she met 

him that afternoon  

MR KOPP: , move• to strike out the queition as 

leading. 

TmE COURT: Read the testimOny. 
• 

(The Stenographer reads the following from 

the examitiation of the witness. What was the 



the 23rd da of 3)ecember on a Thuesa you See 

the defendant Drenka that day t A Yes.* 

BY 1.M. ELLISON:. 

Men did you see the defendant Drenkai after the 25rdt 

when was first time? A Two day after, 

Where? A. Re came up to me in 21st Street. 

Q That did he say to you and  what did you' say to him 

if anything?. A Ife asked me how I m and I told hit, I am 

11 r 

When did you see 'him next? A Two day'safter. 

Q Where? A lie was up to see me at 21st Street, 

When did you finally leave 213t Street? A .. I don't 

know what day it was. 

trn COURT: 

Iou kri0yr Christmae wag? A Yes. 

How many day3 after Christmas/ A I believe I 

was six days up id 21st Street. 

MR =MONA The witness testified that he  left 

her place on the 23rd- tliat would -make it the 29th. 

1111 KOPP I PIOve to, strike it out. 

Motion denieds 

TEE. WITNESS We were there six daya -altogether, 

BY TH OURTI 



-MR. KOPP: I object to that Upon the ground that 

it is incompetent, rreLevant and immaterial. 

_Overruled and exception, 

BY MR ELLISON: 

During th0 six days how often had you seen the  

Q, And wh,ere did. Tou go after leav ng the 21st Street 

house? A 510 Vast .79th - Street, 

cl And who if anybody was l4th ythi whei . you went or 

there? 

Objected to as ineopetnt1rre)evant and 174%1,-

TIR =PP: airs° ()West as leading?' 

,Objootien overruled? ptcQption, 

uo4. 

13Y MR, IITLISOM. 

About what time wae it that you a di; over to 79th 

Street with 44; 

THE COURT: rant,old wfilvt difference does that 

make whether Mangold went with her? . 

=ISM: It doei not make any practical 



difference. 

TEE WITNESS: I do not knew the exact date. 

believe it was about the U)th. 

Incm, ELLISON: 

Q Had you had any conversation with the defendant 

BTenka about going over to the 79th Street Piace before 

you went over there? 

Objected to as leading. 

--Overruled and exception; 

TBB COM There i no doubt these questions are 

leadinai but where an iiterproter is used it is some-

times necesoary ThiO convreation W4E had on the 30th 

:December. I LJTc'hao any-rocollection of thp conver-

0 tion elle can state vat; the conversation was, Was therti 

an, oonvemat on bad  1er prior to oingto 79th 

Otreet. 

KR. MK); In connection with her infs o 79th 

Streetd, 46.tha ifa t; ho  In ,other words tlIc 

question af,ordp her tho cyabjoot :mutter upon whidh. ehe is 

to unoswer. ZdOn*t mind hOi? o3 at  -any cohversation 

she had with the defendan.-

• THE COURT: -4 I eve'rlizuioho Objections 

Tx.oeption* 

THE WTFS I never spoke-to'---BrenkAHWbout going 

t 79t1I -Street JAang.o..d was the one *he skolcif 



me about it,  

BY 1L iILISO; 

(1 When was the first time that you saw the defendant 

Drenka after reaching the 79th Street house? A I called. 

him up on the, telephon.e on the same evening and he cane 

over tO see me, 

Q What it anything was said at that time what did you 

say to him or what did he say to you? 

Objected to as incompetent, irrelevant and iron 

terial and in this connection ask your Honor t 

loolt at the indictment,, Th inclictment charges tte 

purpoce of rostitution on 79th Street conver=. '-

Option was tsad in 79th ooreet dtcrr tIn r1  WaS ,• placed 

there cold 1Ut poacible bearin3 t,llat can haye•to the 

urpose of p1acin3 ter there or proStitution I do not 

Obj t overruleav :/.-zooptiono 

A I told him tha Ziangold 4cto room- rented the 

room in his name aiisl ia vj czdrY. 

BY R, LXSO1 

What did he 



fY.çAtó3.dthe.that he svexy anr7.beousøhe 

nae 

THE OJR: She told him that MangoLd had'!1(1440 

the :room in the etendant' name? 

THE INTEiV.1314THH: Yej). 

•,.THE 0.011HT:d•efendant tól& her hi..waB" 

•-angrY 

• THE TITTERP.RIVER:. Yea beca,084. ManoLd. 040,4**s 

-1rOPP,t Tour Honor lett tIlitt mord angry .stand 

on the regoriat 

PI g COMM: Of course0 z.7e13, r iv tt.ow0r4 

lsea by the defend= 

BY TiLLTHOIT: 

What if anythinr, did :he say to you about what you 

wtro doing for a living? 

Objected to as .incompetent, irelevaut and ima 

terial and upon Vic further ground that it IS lea,dins• 

Objeotion overruled, ExceptiOn. 

it Be told me just to o -ay' there *until I et another position. 

Harr long did you renaJm in the 'Nth Strteet 0400 

A I .believe itwao *out nine day. 

• Bow often ,did Ott B ee .tho defendant .Drenka, thre 

during that timer 

Objected to as incottpotpat, irrelevant and Urinate-



;OW " 

• 
And exception. 

Tn COURT: Of couroef.:bió..eyiSnc*hae t0 

be conned-le 

OP Do you hold thaisendant 

• Vloited this iTtttiess atter she wae placed irt..79t 

Street Stould•b6 tried, under this ,indictment. 

0QI have not .*O, • 

ItOPP::tAU right1 

A J'F second day', 

B JIB.TZLisag: 

p,

 

Ro' di  u makc Ofly wbile you  were in the 1th 

Street place? 

Obj ec t() d Objceti0n 3UQtainAdP 

What it au thiris did you cio u while:ou 

were tho 79th .0trOOt. 0.400?. 

Obtce t;ad to a inOompotent •irre:1,0Yailt 

THZ COURT* Objection Oyerrulett.suble tto the -

panise. Of tho Motrist Attorney to connect $cit..‘he 

aeforgiautt WAfla tlao,aetu Oh4r.ged agaimet him in t e in-

dictmen 

1TR. ML/8070,3 

ICOPP: I except. 

Toncoid brought MO Op *en and he 

• :tad ic if I would liav.e ee:nual introOUrøR 'With Mrs 



ti• 

will have money, 

THE COURT: What rangOld said I cannot a.1.IOW 

for the.present, 

ER, IIIITS911: Vie shoW the aavency Of Mangold*: 

110UAT: If both were concerned in placing 

this girl in the place and the purpose of so doing 

was that shEa was to nrostitute her b 

with perons r unlawful t5oxila1 intercourse, and 

this -defendant ulawU..ly igo'cived. money on .account 

placing ,the female In the house, for that purpose.-7 
both 

whyo that io the chnipse in the indictment---and if were 

concerned in. that crimelt. both were r,rAilty 

.liee wrbitting evidenocr bf that character at this 

time, unlesS yOu cm connuot the evidonCe„ 

Mg. ULT80114 Pill -.our Tonor-perMit me 

lot nt013 for the present and call 15angelei, 

0 

yet and withdrA.w theast que tion. 

11.1R, KOPP* Do. I unclerota,nd. that :lour Ronor on, your 

• You may cep this witness on the 

own motion strike out the answer to,:t.bb last uestien 

T take am  exo option, 

TH:1) 00TIRTA 

KOPP: I dt 

TRE coun tz1a allovi thon You new. 

opening tho. doc4r for what 136-41-GoId did, I wiLi flow 

t *hat in the record? 



the, queetr,194, to st4nd-164 did it for the- purpose of 
0 

protecting th&defen.dantle, interests., t.tx Read the. 

question and a:nswer. 

The .Stenogra.pher reads the question and answer as 

follOWel 

while yol 

at if anything did. you 4o • 
were at the 79th Street place? A arigold 

brought me up men and told, me if I will -hav.e Bexuai 

intereourae with them. I will hiviiioiey.1s 

T;f1E COURT: Do you want- that to standt OlaractiOr1 

Tianwild in the absence 02 this dedant, after the 

act was committed in putting tho woman in the place, 

are not bindina upon '6hi s defencicant) because su611 400144%4 

tions- are- simply 'binding upon I ango24, but, it 

t to stand on the record T 7ill alLow it. 

Epp I vidll 00:66ont to hr it tricken out. 

THE COURT: Strike it out. 

BY MR.LXO 

at aid, y'ou do. the? 

THE COMM: 

itnes3 to teat 

o omit conversations- et the 

ty 4B to aertain acto, 

t did you do there?'• A ITneneve Mangold brought 

customers I had maul intercourse and CT aid e for it. 

Q How much maw di you take in frori sexual intercourse 

daring the time you wen.) in the 79th reat _lace? 

ObjcctO4 to ap incempptcnt irrclovant imm 111., 



,rial and irrelevant not bindin 

Objection sustained. 

Q Did you take in any money 

Objected to. Objection sustained. 

MR. KOPP: May T &El It, your permission 

strike out the subsequent question and: answer upon the 

ground is not binding on the defendant. 

COURT : YOU should allow it tO.remainflV thp 

record, for the benefit of th defendant. • I am striking' 

out declarations made byMangold in the absence. - 

defenda,nt for, I ;Jill strike out any ovidence whether 

Sav:orablo or unfavorable en yoUr -motiOnt 

strily;,) it out, .butt T OM here to )rotect the' ri 

of the .defendant, as wU th interests ofthe 

That evidence is net unfavorable your alien 

the contrary it oho= that rangold .brozight the men to 

the place _with whom the 1/Onian had improper relations. 

IT you want it stricken out I il trike it 

ER KOPP: I Will 1 t it stand. 

THE COURT I truc.k" out the oth6r, evidence, 

because there was a deciaratiOn4 v..,,at Mangold said an 

that evidence is hettrOtky 4fl(i. incompetent as asainst 

this defendant 

„ BY IR 

Q Did ydu r000ve an7uaouc Arms prostitution while you 



" 

Objected to upon the soza 

Objection cuStained. 

MR, EI:LISON1 The only way tlIat t can show that 

his defendant received any money from her to shi)vt 

-thathe received the.raone$* 

TF1E COURT: Voi • The charge le .any. person' Tf 

Shall receive any money, or valudble thin 

account of placing in a las:lime of p, rostitution or 

where any fem.ale Lor VE16-,1 vtarpoo causing her 

habit with sny ma eoperfion or per5on4 to 

married .011.all Vilty alodeaeator 

not mean that the 7410nel/ rill‘tocli t:ix deg -J•tlilant 

Vecielved-mUlit -4031 0.0 -041A: •-ro .O her  having • 

ospittatea he bor. T.„. pho ziar tuo tht: 

Monet from the 'bank and .give it o h1n, ho rou hk-tvo  to 

shOw.is• that n .this .place for tho'...purpoSe-

•o Oauaing: her to. 0.oliab$t 'Pith -••:aV • malo 19vr#On to.. 

whom she was not marrie0 and that• the. defendant's pur-

pose in putting her there wa to r °sive unlalvta:1-7 

money, 

BY VTR, ELLISON: 

€1. Did you give anymoncar 

e you were' in the 70th Stroet hoti30? , - 

0 iaw fae,fendant Paul Dreaka 



Objected to4,ae LnQQmp cnt irreivant nI.imma 

teriai* 

Objection sustained. 

DO you know at, defendant Philip Mangold? A Yes. 

And where did you firet meet -him/ 

Objected overruled; except ri. 

MR,, KQi 3e .s not_ a defendant in this case. 

•HR. ELLISON: One Ph lip Mangold.- they -are . 

ointly indicted* 

Objection overruai d. Exce tions. 

Intelligence offic 

ou ever -.meet* the defendant rel-ika arid. Ifongold 

ogetheil 

Objected to sunlese the date it fixed. 

Objection .ci'crrulede Eziozt 

• THE COURT-t X viLL permitthe'Dietric AttorAeY to 

•P x the date. 

TEE INITNESSI 10 oir* 

BY T E 

never met th Ogother? A. Never met them • together* 

The Court admoniohos! •the• Airy in accordance witY 

Section4i§ tho Coco o rimina3. Procedurc and table a 
*-

rocee wtl7l tIIO clecir,, 



After recess. 

.1" H I I I 'P • prA NGOLD called as a witness on beha,lf of 

the people, being duly sworn and examined testitied 

as follows: 

XOPI,; Da you 'withdraw the last Witnitest 

-THE„ COURT: The witness is withdrawn. 

VR. 'ELLISON; T.einporarily withdrawn. 

'DIRECT KKArIlTATION BY VER. =ISM: 

TOO. have been jointly indicted with the _defendant 

•-don" t y tt tmdes,rotand? A I 'don't 

at language do you speak? A Hungarian and Geryian. 

THE :COURT; $peakito-him: .iT. German... 

- • The Witness • 4oW -.tes4tieS • thrOugh the ..interpreter 

Lustig who is sworn t-

an and from German into English. 

he question is repeated. through: th. 

7.ER.We concede tha 

ELLI00172 

What is your answer? 

Objected to as nçompetent,. irrelevant and it0121 

te ial the miter- of record. 

THE COURT: It a matter 0  record, 

answer the question • 

THE IITTERPHET.Elk 110 understands Hungarian. 



TIM-0OURT: YouLbetter.then,prood $4.Burtgari.1010 
TUASS.v. TOS4 

What bUsiness are yoU .1.0A Waiter '000invis4 

Do you know the dcfendant Paul Drenka A X know 

since-- the last four months, 

met him at  the Cafe Commercial On. Second Avenue."between 5th 

and 6th Streete* 

Q Between that time and the, 29th of December . 1909 

how frequently did you see the defendant .Prerika 

Objected, to as.. incompetent, . irtel.evant id Jima—, 

teriala 

'Overruled. arid exception. 

In the first two months I had not rant him, lu the 3.as 

two months I met him every day. 

That during the Months of November an • :01.caigibert, 

A. Yes* 

When woiild you usually meet him? Dur p,c; 

e objection, ruling and e/.ccepti n* 

afternoon, in the evenina and sametim durin 

I. know her, 



ow -have 

ObJ ecte d. to a tnc omlpetent $rreetnt—sntt 

Overz'aLcd and. exoeptLou.. 

. Three- and a iaLf lnonthe 

Whore did yOu .tirat tee 

n an ongioyment office on .East 4th Street. 

Q When did you first xznel out that the -defendant Drell 

knew Lizzie Harzo? 

Objected to as oallin 00? aonclusient-

Objection sustaille64 

y u ever limo- vv • oenvor1444xin wit tho defetidest 

Drezika iirevird, to Xsiszsie Ttaido 

The 932;01XtiOn. 0:140004te 

Objected to ac been airedy .4„fiew-0,1* 

Objection overruled' .eutOPt$04 

THE ‘711ThTESS: Yes eiro.h-vio. 41,fterWarda. 

When? 

MR. KOPP: X more that the word afterwards. be Stria 



He said "Y'es -a,fterwards". 

BY TH14 COURT:, 

q, Explain what you mean by afterwards? A About three 

weeks before the ir1 was pereuaded to go into this busineee. 

Objected 

TEX COURT.: ritrike out tht words Betore he was 

ye suaded to o into this busineso 

33Y ?TR. IMLISOM. 

State 'azai he said to you an6 wbat you aaid to him 

at t114 A Tio. told me that the ir1 nnb out at nine' 

clock in the evening and z e riade 12. 

ObJected to a irrosponsi,e and not  bndn on the 

defendant. 

.TEE abuRT: I omitain the obIootion and-thc Jury 

dloro tr3. the evidence. 

B( itL Luasoll 
ct anythins did he say to you about the ,3ir1 

flying the place she was world. 

Objected to as loadinat ncompetont anC, immaterial 

• d not blnding upon t •do:CQ 

/Objection suutained. 

the time yota oakid :rota hacl thio convereatiOn 

with ndant rata did he say to you *bout the 

zzi HrO and .t7hat did you say to him if, itnything? 

cote,d too Overruled and exception. • 



2 

in KOPP: Pot the purposes of the record this 

objection is .tak n upon the previous grounds stated 

the last objection. 

THE WITNESS: I did not tell him anything, and 

be did not tell me anything* 

When did Drenka first speak to you bolit Lizzie 

Harzo? 

Objected to as incompetnt4 irrelevant and material 

THE COURT: If at all,. 

Objection :overruled. Exception  

TrIE Itwa,s two or -three dayo be.ore 

ChriPtmaQ. 

(1 at did We 00,7 to you? 

Objected. 4.40as not binding upon trio dCondnt • an 

aka incompetent* irrelevant am d immaterial. 

4. cOuRT4 xi/at i Objected to. 

KOPP What ha said tø . 
•s* 

MIL  IILISOrt Vow that to not bibs) questiOn. 

The question is repeated as follovis: 

en did, Drenka l'irst speak  to you about Liszie 

Harzo? 

Objection ovormlodi Exception* 

.A He toid me 'that let us.„:1 43- o and. look.for •a rOom gor -the 
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,g What else did he. say? A ge told me that from tO-da

 the girl will be in the business* 

Q Did he el-plain the I3usiness? A Be told me that we 

agreed wi h the irl that she i going to be a'Vlore on 

that day on. 

Objected. 

Q, mu) did. he iay he meant by the word "vie"? 

Objected to, 

THE COURT1 Did thQ deOendant use the word 

greed vaitlik the girl that oho would be a whore from to d 

SCOPP: o. you iloti that Auestion? 

rE  COURT Xt i unnecessary. 

Bt !1ELL/sont-
What. ifmyth.rg. was paid about te money to b 

ez*ned by her as a prostitute? 

• 0I3j.ected to a leading, 

- Overruled and Oteeption, 

told me zoo .1" have ot mice clothe and diamonds' 

- and you have nothing "MI6 you will have. nice °lathes 311 

diamonds 

OPP'S aove to trike out 

responsiite, 

rtotiOn gran ed. 



The question s repeated as falloym: 

What .if anythin 

7 

was. said about the 'money to be 

earned by her as p. prostitute. -A ite will, Save- the mono)" 

and. he Will have money; 

Th question is repeated. 

Objected. to as incompetent irrelevant and ima—

• TIM COURT:: The question is certainly a leading one 

but since An Interpreter is used in this case and.. it 

apparent to the Court that the witness does not under-

stand. possibly, I will allow the question, alth.ctigh it 

eadings. 

IrOPPI As um goE 1;120 sake of argument that thi,; 

witneso answered in the affirma.tivO as to come a. reernent 

that wa MI 'be made aø to the.'dispositi-On of the money 

earned by prostitution, what passible bearing has. 

that on the indictment. The indictment presupposes 

that the money was praii an account of the placing of 

this girl Xatb.ing to 'da pith the proceeds of prOStitu-

tion. 

THE COURT,: tat statute it= phrased very poorly. 

It is the work o ar apprentice. *AO Person who 01141 

receive 

oCount_ 

where 

any money or other valuable thing for or on 

or placing in a house of prostitution or else 

female r the purpose of causing her to co-• • 



wag . 

2$ 

habit with any male person Or persons to whom she is 

not married, sh.all be guilty of a misdemeanor* 

MR:3A008Y: The money May be received a week 

or month 'aster the placing and the defendant might be 

guilty, He does not have to get his money -before h 

places her it there. 

THE OMR T: That I want the District Attorney t 

guard- against $8 evidence that the defendant received 

the Tiroceede tif prostitution, as in 'admissible under 

this charge. You see what I mean Mr. Appleton. 

ML APPLBTON: The point is, now, to get the conver-

sation 'front this witness that ha.d with. the defendant 

ny canvereation that he had ie materi4,; 
-41 

THE.pount True, but I had better sustain t 

Obje tion rid bpaourwelto tho last lueStior4. 

W.2180111 

14 After that oonversation what if an thint; dit 7ou and 

ronka do? 

ZIT.. KOPP I °We t, P the time. 

m.ELLISON: 

After this convorbation that you referred t 

/111. OPP: Hai Dont after? We after he was 

ind rQt know when. 

The question 'kW repeated. 

reM ZIT:7E0M • (1::len we found t3 . c. rem* 



.1401,1)4 I object. No time  :been fixed.. 

Conversations too ,remote • and indefinite to be admiesibl 

n evidence. 

Objection • overruled? .Potopetionit 

• Of THE COURT: 

Where? ..A.16.5 West 21st • Street 

Who went withyou' A. Me and  Paul- 1)r:6.0)mo 

Anybody else? A Nob 

q. .What did you do when  you got • to the promieee on  

-West •21st Street ,nowi* .. on the 29th day of December 19.09.i 

An the • Borough of  Manhattan •County.:ctrli!lv..Y.Orki did you .see... 

the defendant. 

,BY Mti ZILISOt: 

Q. • On. the )December 190t 1iC y..0 -see the defendant 

Paul Drernkat 

q Mere? A 165 Wept 21st !trout. 

THZ OOMIT; 

at ocourretl there if anything/ A When we were up 

to tha • 3. 't Streot room, t o told us that somebody 

inoide---

'Object :0 tO* ObjvCtiOn' sue ained.. 

THE...COURT-1 

Q.  Stxite. -what $,f anythin ..oCcurred between the defendant 

and yOU. On INA 'Occasion? A Paul Drenka • and. I bired. rooms . 

uptown 4n4 thP Girl racive'd uptown. 



THE f'OURT: When-- ust- !follow the indictaent 

Mr. Ellison. 

R. APPLETON: *ill your Uonor permit me to ask 

him a few questions? 

THE COURT: Y 

BY MR.v!APPLETON: 

Q Did .you have a convereation with this defendant 

Dr enka about . the middle of December 1909 t 

•3113 KOPP: There has been an answer put ia on the 

last queStion 

MB. APPLETON: .0•onsent that .it be stricken 

TMB.X0ih 

000tion repeated ao 29110we: 

Di :you have a conversation 3:7ith thip defendant 

Drenka about , the -middle of :Decomb or 1900 A Yee. 

• .4 Novi what AS.a. Drenka, Say to you. and What did •you say 

to renka OPut the Uth day of Dccwaber 1909 about the - 

4zzi  Earzot 

1*KOPP Idbject as callitfTirac ()previous 

te the date in• thc Indictment and as incompetent, 

iirelevatt ahd,1ruiit en al. 

Objection inerruleds, Excertion. 

a Via ft uct nythin  about • anythJA; at that ire. 

Q :Jor*-.,nembpr tiaci defendant wing ismethin t 



about Lizzie, D'art° having a day ftl 

Objected to, 

?AR APP/ABTON_; I asked him that o•refresh his r 

collection. 

THE COURT: Did he make any statement in writing? 

tm. A.:OPLETON: Yea, 

THE COURT; Can he refresh his recollection from . 

that s tat ement? 

A141,ETOIT: He cannot read That is the trouble 

BY MR. APPLETON; 

Clan you read Maglish?• A 

Were you  in Mr. llison's office? Ms. 

A Did you, tell l!tr. lElliaon when you were in his office 

that on or about the lEith day of 'December 190$ Drenka told. 

you that Lizsie Itarzonhad a &y off and that he was going t'e 

e.; et her and you should use her tor the, purpose of making 

money for himaelf. 

Ob4ected to ac incompetent, irrelevant an .immate,-

.131 not tell cmythina else, 

la Dia yott talk with Dreilka 'about I•izzie 1arzo aga 



after that Conversation? Only then 0 1040 

Q Did you see Maie Harzo in the priftiale; ii65 

2let in the County of rpvi York? 

..gbjeated toas incompetent, irrilennt 'iz-
matera ct l4ndizg upon the defendant. - 

eettOn Orr epti0n  

HE COURT: 1 for cBe Ot tX the 

WITNESF,: I took her over era ati saw ho 

there, 

Objected to aunot r 

THE 001:111T: Strike out the words took her over 

theies and the Jury will distepra that, 

BY TEE DOUBT: Did you see her there? As y 

BY MB, APPLETON: • 

q, Do you knO*Viti4 4.#zie Harz° went with to the 

premises 165 'eLt2lbt Streeti 

Objected to a irgaaterial, 

Objection SilEitaited* 

Q BegoreLizzio riara0,WOlit to 

with Drenka at all r 0. 6. D*'efl erarethird4e to iou. 

before Oho vent 0 that house? 

Object c(1 to aL) h•akviitka boon .alrott at.aswered, 

Objection overruled, -3:31c0OptiOri. 

)r)ootO Wan. an eveninc before and. 1.3.0 mice* tad mo he 



would like to o me•next day* 

Did you o and see tho defendant next d. fl  

q Did the defendant ay anything to you on that os a-

sion? A Ho asked me to o and look ±or fooms with him* 

4. That did you A* ilatzt and the defendant then do on 

that day? A 7e went about half paSt one and. .looked. and we, 

took rooms. 

Where did you take the r s? A 167 West alst street* 

Objected to. 

MR. APPLETON: I will connect it arid -if_ not I will 

consent that it be stricken - out. 

11R ZOPP: I move that -"the answer be stricken out 

upon the ground a incompetent, irreleVant and :Lima-

teri 

TH COUHT: Strike it. ou 

1M APPLETON: The defendant went with this. 

vatrIOPSto take those reems, 

ME KO P: That bearing has that on the charge 

contained in the indictment. Ire is charged with placing 

APPLETON: have to show that - he placed her' 

in. the placereceived the money -as the result of 

placing her or ocount of doing- it. 

TI IL OR indictment does not charge the 21et 



Street piace..1;u. the 79th Street Place, 

Mi, APPLETON: I have. to show the vrelimina 

.iut what pled up to it, 

MR, KOPP{ The preliminary • steps show a different 

e entirely to that charged in the 

111. APPLETONr That may bO 

ent crime has to be shown but at the. same tjinut it 1.0 

involve4 as a part of the crime alleged, 

THE COURT; de not. think it makes an 

what .occu.rred, in the 21et Street houee. 

MR APPLETON; I do not ask tc re • that ocenrred there; 

not going to prove anything -.that .occurred there - 

except. oowereatftoris If any which tbet Vlaca between, this 

WitneEisA. Otend.aiit 

• 'Lot the laiett anowe-x, 1)(€1.- ntrioken ou 

and confine oUrcie f to that line, of 1V(ittirY, 

MR, APPLF2ON1 This witneso 

has to be done thrOugh. the /nterpretai an 

hard to get thea oonnectiO.n 

MR, IMP: This witness is a very 

•and you will have no trouble with him at all. 

BY MR. APPLETON; 

14 Cannot you talk tnglish? A No a little. 

Q Nov/ you say you and Drenke. went •frosi where to hire 

rooms? A Yeas 

witness 



• 3 

did 011 4 it you were flii#91krovi.zr 

h44,44t, ere Xgot 

1 object t it unlels the tonVerBation 

toot pxoe at !t, re'the rocnt. 

estion 

TUB. Vittiefals '4notrp .10- O. IP. 

A . When .1. go: 0.tV4iiit to Look. fôr. rPortPa. 

htpilk..iv you :see fix you. weld ,:dress you goo .up. d. .‘.ite 

thlxig; you See I ttontt work:: 447 1avtaaOnW au v 

and you &it@ .4 t 0 an.oniy 

the girl. Rnd :X got. for 

Q And then at 

irl and Paul Dronkd'pair.6 to moao to )140,:kiiinUO 

and. 1 go. up Ti*Orp 

on'overrulexction. - 
ott!rpti. •11.0.7, tt 

17m. theroi.10.e::.0.ip. veryAnt -4t.;t4 

IC4o 317.ou topii to: this : 1.449:'!rpliso 11007:: 

lithe was dressed up and she vas rea 

Ancwor my question, did' eh° go 4ny?Ar with you  A 



• gi; You went to 21st Street/ A Ye 

Objected. to, Overruled. 'and exception, 

Q Who was at 165 West 21st Street when you and 

Lizzie Harzo arrived there? A Paul 'Drenka waiting there. 

Q Did Lizzie Harzo from that time on live at165 West 

21st Street, yea or no? . 

Objected to as incompetent, irrelevant and imniaterialt 

IlrE4 OP/WM / will connect. it absolutely, 

Obje‘tion overruled, Exdeption+ 

Bid Lizzie.Harzo, thon live at 161,3 Wept 21st Street if 

sro knov4 A I don't understand 

q gA,he sleep there at nigh A, Paul Drerilca? • 

liai4z0440 A 'You, 

Hour night' A Six. night-. 

.after tbat did, 'Lizzie Earzo LI.:0 io livt, anywhere 

MIL ,APPIZTO will tonneet • it„ 

Trig•COUIIT1 Po not , e the word live, 

BY eq: 

q Didoho zo to sleep anywhere .e1ó? 

Qbjneted to Objeoilon. overruled, 
•;• 

COURT.: ltd vho go anywhere.  



that 

Did you [Teak with Paul Drenka before you took Lizzie 

•-WM that 

BY MR. APPLITON: 

9. After she had beeti 'six days at AeS5 -Wes 21et Street* 

did Lizzie tra,rao then go- to preirtiOes 510 Bast 79th Street. 

in the County of Nevi York? A- 'Yes. 

Q.1510w- do you know who hired the flat at 510,3a t 79th 

tree t A -Yell*: 

Were 3rou present when it was hired, yea or no? A 

Tho hired A Paul Drenka said to 

No?' A I (3.onft understand 1.7114t to* sayt 

0bjeate0.- to Objection Overruled. Eioep'tioni 

o 704 knot-7, t cA.t lady there ( ? 

TAR. 'ICOPPt Mat i the lady's name? 

,OPLBT0114 

.ir ri, ,A2PLraolfi 

Do you knew he A I do not kn 

Did .you go vith Zzzc Herz° from 105 West 21st 

t to 510 .Eat 79th Street? A Yee. 

Q there Anybody e3..se who went with 

A 1To. 

Rarzo Ovr to 5/0 Ea-t 79th Street? A 

biA Paul Drenka 6)eak to. you? 4 Paul Drenka 



spoke tome  

. What d'd, he say?. A He said tomorrow I go and. lo 

n an uptown room; I *ant a fl t. 

Go on? A And I 6o in 79th Street in the new. houses 

and Paul Drenka ems with m.e and I• took 4 room in this house 

"Weeks— .fl.a.t* 

4 A flat?: A Yee. 

(4, Who hired: it  Dr nka? A Paul Drenka was w 

n I vanted .to pay the rent and Paul Drenka said you tail 

-my name -Paul Drenkats name-- ungarian- -yOu write the name, 

and I write Paul Drenka.- and he told me to write tailor and 

/ wrote tailor prOi'escionf •and I write 1880, where I was born. 

that flat did u ..!0.0.10 in 410 Et.. 19th atti;!e41. 

X takci throe 'room} and bath 4n4"kitchon. 

170 roix *now the,numberPof tho giatV. 

that floor was it ont Ground ,f3, o or „ 

Q, Wow* Dronka was with pou when that was done? 

v:hen the offioero oamo nd Z•came with 7aul •renka 

4 t iø not what I asked. you--war.1 renka with, you? A 

Yo ho 1,70,Z• uith me Paul Dronka was with 

Q, Did Dre ka toll you to get the girl? 

Objec (ad to • as leading. Overruled, 

Did .Drenka. tell you to go and. get Lizzie Harzo 

and bring over to 510? A . He said r go and Litzie hiwo • 



n the .:bank and she 2ha11 take the from the ' 

-bank and bring..th,e Mcnepr up 4..tu ;091.ock there. 

• *ere? A 52,0'.2att 79th Street, 

:OPP. X move to strike that all out a$, 

.eponsive4 

.Notion denied and exception,. 

Did lassie. go and. get XS* out o ther 044,yes .or :no 

• °bp:to:tell to, 

got it .out of the bank* 3rea4 

Md 013.e. :cam tho 3.3* with  hor txirer to 40t. 

Tee* amd. she (pm) roe the 

. Objected. to; Objection:overraie cepti 

Q id you go then cotter to 510 FP134t !Nib: 'street? • 

A She 'cave trith me, - 

-itas there any1oy there. when you got there*? 4 
.1 and. ishe and 7 .o'clock was-Paul Drenkai' there. 

(1 In the ev:oning? A In the. evtning.-

(1 What thaf WAO that the 24th of December? A Ti  

.firot day wo nOved there. 

Arbor the air% Ramo 'w.ai in tkai premises il0 

'East 79th Strott were an  men .brought in to ho.r,. yes or no?• 

• Objected to as. incompetent 'ad 

•ObJection withdrawn. 
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Q Did the defendant bring- ally Zen into Lizzie /tamo. 

after  she reached the premise ,510,Zast 19th? A I On 't under 

stand that question, 

Did Drenka bring any men in to Lizzle Ramo in the 

premises 510 East 79th Street? A Did Paul Dren:ka bring 1114032 

Q, Were any men brought in? 

-Objected to, Objection -overruled, 741xceptiOno 

-A I bring the•Men miysir / gave tho. address and bring the 

men myself  

XR0 OPP: Z *ant to 'get my obectoni on the record ' 

I Object to that last question upon tho cround it is 

.indomp*tent irrelevant and ixfun,aterial -That iz the 

question thc znr ion were brought at flat. 

Obai4onOverruled,. 32x0eptiOn,„ 

BY MI ICOPP1 

po. you mow 13.01-; many days they stepped at 510 'ast 

7911.4 .Street.4 

OPP1 I' objedt utileso he rcc1f1e *he they 

are. 

Or TM. APPLETON:, 

Hot/ many daya Lizie Iáro stopped tik,Aire? A . Yes. 

ran7 did ,she stop t ere? 

(mice:tad to 40 incompfAcnt irrn evant a 

;vcrru and exception. 



About sixteen 

•Q • low many 'men were brought in on an average each day 

that you know. 

Objected to; •overruled; and exception. 

A I- don t know -'-two or  three, every day. 

g Ever: any more than: two :or three? A .1Sr and.:two or 

three or four or five days t don't bring no men at all, 

Do you know if Drenka braulk,ht any in? A i,saul 

Drenka don't brin- mens.. 

Q Did you ?see any men go 'into the room with Lzio lario? 

..Object.td to a incampeten relevant itral! 

Objection overruled. •1Nzeption. 

10, you ee 'hat Li vie .4id-

Z4ie *Ramo 'gave ME 7011? ..:10 what 

•'b acap ttna oirprythinam • i• bOught for 

-kwhat did you do with thd,.1 

0 e 

1 Paul Drenka 

came at 7 01 aloe% and asked the money from Me 0/1.50 and 

gave it to hi 

A uari Lizzie Haft° -ore when you lave t to 1ili? 

Q Did phe 3ee 7011 ive him the 011..509 A Yes. 

44 After that 'mit any money ri;iven by LizLr e Har:zo 

ul Dranita? 'leo* 

trix.rmember h04., much? 

. r: 11130 

Lv€ry dollar çt he 



Ps every dar t.9a  olo k 

Objected to as ineompetent, irrelevant 

rial and as eallin7 for a conauSlon. 

Objection overruled. Exception. 

-THE COURT: Strike out ,the words 

•" but, she gave him money, 

APPLETOITV 

Q 'How did gihe earn.tbe money if You know? 

Objc;oted to io inoompetento irreievan 

n underatand4 

Vow did LisE, 1-.i.rso get the money 

?aul. rirofikat 

0.4 jooted to,flnotaino 

Where did •ao the money from? 

Obje,otod• to. SueGained. 

SPPL,TROIT: want - to f.-.1how 

thooa mon and he -then roc4ved it for and on account 

of' huVina laaot4 her *21 that house,. 

11113 COURT: I think it ie unneoespary, 1t y u 

ehOw that thin dofondant fors the purpose of pausing the 

prer3QOuticiz to -cohabit trith men put her somewhere and 

ConalcieiMlon ot that ho received money or valusble 

thinB, the crime io complete, 

BY. 1.1R, APPLEVONt 

You Qua tho 

iat she make* 

and immateriel 

a room with Lizzi4 Ham)? 



exception, 

Q Di d you'4 see any of the men who went to the 'room .with 

Lizsie Harso:, give her any Money? A X do not was in there, 

Objected, too Sustained. 

Now much money did you sa.y that „Lizzie Trarzo gave 

the defendant each day. at 2 o clock? A Sometimes 3.2, and 

--I don't know1 I dont t want to state, 

IIR, pPP; I ask to strike out the answer upon the 

ground the proof is not within the indictment. 

THE COURT: I understand the purpOtee of the Diotrid. 

ttOrney is  to connect ,' th.10 evidence in ..order..sto 410. 

that the defendp,.7.it did reOpive money on accpunt Of plaeinEt 

this complaining wa,tness- in a place• for the •purpose of 

ng hor to sob.abit with any male person to whop •sho 

not married. 

TO, TOMS- ' Th3 ind.ictritent allettes a speoifiC 

to, nd ii the econd place unless it is oonclusivelY 

ch.on that the defendant bad nowlotJic that this money 

was paid to him on ccOurity it i .flotbintlin upon kiln. 

Tux COURT: That would be -ct question for the 4'ury. 

determine 

t opp in nr opinift it le a quention 0f law. 

Objection overruled. Xxceition. 
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.13r11.n. APPLETON:: 

Q D4 you on  or about the. 7th Zanuary .ge any- • 

where.- did you go .to Police Station abotit.,the 7th? "A ..X7eft* 

What - tation did  you. o to? A •fflgtii Street -Police 

• Station*. 

Objeatecl., as :ixiaompetent, .irrelevant and imma.te-rial 

Overruled and exception. 

.g Pi-fth Street? A Fifth and First Avenue Police. 

. Station: 

Who did you see there? A I aw first the offi'cor. 

Did yofu see that o±ficer Officer-2,E004teon)1 A Y 

Q, Did you tell officer Mceartoon what had happened 'in 

510 East 79th Street.? . 

Objected to as incompetent, irrelevant .and immatcriL 

not binding upon the defendant. 

Objection cu stained  

ORO EMIITATION 13Y U KOPP: 

Q, Itor,r long have you been a waiter,- -don't .you Under.. 

and English., A Yes. 

How long have :you been a waiter in a restaurant? 

Been nine months in this oauntrY and four and a.half months 
• 

T. I-4U in ono vlace• 

The Cithor four an  S, at were yell doing last? 

A The it 1110.nth 2 we. sick Won / QaXiO here. 
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Bow Ions have you been 3.i rag with this Lissie RarS4 

A Mghtéen days- 16 or eighteen d 

(I• Did she give you any money? o 

Did you sleep with her? A No* 

Q, Were you in the fl it? A Yes I lived in this 

flat. 

Did you ever ask her for any  money? 

Whir did you go to: the police station 

feel that --that a m A-because a young girl taken in t1it 

business and too* trrthis 1iouse and• Z- .do not can ea • . 

.cry And the •detectives.-...ean-..Ste- ,or 

:in.-*y:natiOnality -being-. it this busineø, 

You were touched, •Yott.felt• perry for the 

irl7=1* =Wit A •Y and sorry for rxt 

ituttl 

tz, You felt "sorry for. yourself?. A I' 

'pia yeti realize that you were doinga wrong 14 the 

time you made this alleged agreement •Drenka 0 pu 

girl in business? k X don't -understand. 

Q Did you realize at that time—you say' Drenkaloado 

a preposition to younto take the "Uarzo girl and put her,.4 

flat and make money. -A Yes* X am afraid of this men. 

This man asked me and I am afraid of hint. This Man kill rsi 

Q Have you spoicen with..anybott about this case? 

1111 APPLETOIT: I 'conceded that he talked to Ur", 

Ellison about it when the 'police Offices brought him 

t. 



Nave you talked' to anybody else besides. Ur. V.I.:Liston 

and the poUce officers about this case/ 

'BY m. APPL 0 

About renZaou tell aflbOdy 03. 

about it A No, I don't tell tell nob 

B. KOPii 

you feaadved any ea 

Attorner?gi ot to iayriend and t 11 him what th 

eott e .mo, 

s4 anything. gri.Ve myself and-

BY no •ArPIST.Oltil 

Did anybody' promise y rOtt 

After you spoke to your f4erid you went_ to the 

• And you were arreateat A 'tea* 

Q And you were 13r ought from the Il'Ombe to the rattiest 

. stand now? A I came first with the itictive nd looked 

and worked with the Detective and patched the .first fellow- -

girl and everything. 
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Q You have been in prison ever since that? A I nevOr 

was before, 

Ever since yu told that to he police eficer? A 

Toil went -to the police and made a statement to them 

before you were arrestedi you went not arrested .-when you  went 

and tel.(' the police about it? 4. 1o, Z was not arrested, 

Q You were not L.,irrested until after ot io1d the police 

about tb.iu affair/ J I was arrested here •In hilibuse 

And when you. cam) to this oourt as. witness/ A Ye04.: 

11114.0/10SS EXAMITATIO.1: 

.4 Do Z underetarid you .to ay that you helped ti.1,9 

AittOdtivell g evidence cas this/ A 

:Oil tIlif$ -04011e? A dont t understanda 

qt•-You wont to the. detectivep and told thm all about 

Dronka and this Harz() 'girl9 A that. 

4 You went to tbe detectives and told them about DrenkA 

and thic Ea o girl, 

th trio girls 

X told tbo Ldet.ectiVe about. renka 

And then the detective went -olth you and arres 

Drank* A 70E4.X told him about Drenka in the Cla,re 

Europe 

Q Than It on  ri,th you to tho ea %e Europe? 

T h e dctectives stayed Cutside.-und I (-3o and Paul 



• there and I ,go in the drug stare andIcau. v Paul*pr e ka 
te thesphone and when I .do t do that Paul Drenka, can' 

away- and can touch me and kill mei. I know thf 

A 'Mere were you arrested? A NV? 

A Yes? A Arrest me here in this houge when was 

arreSted -when an the things was ready and I waa here* 

You were arrested here? A 'Y'es 

LIZZIE AZO resiimee the stande 

"DIRECT EMINATIOr 001:1VM7D BY TM APPLETON:: r 

You cm a1 tArie ..:E;r:glich? A eL 

Yot. con d talZ 701i enOu zis to t 11 us iow 

lona. ago 't7a0 it. 't).i4t ot: t1rt3t met Paul Drenka9 A About 

foui' rionths, 

Objooc to as havine 4eidy be  2;one over., 

TEE COURT: She has gone -over. that. 

Mon did you 80 to the prerriaes :00 Jet Street, 

to livos do you remember tl ?. A Yes, 

Ob3ct  to a immaterialv, irrelevant zi,nd incompetent( 

la COURT: You have gone over 

DIE VITNES • went Over December,23r0., 

T!  COURT: Strike ft. out 

HE COURT: You may proceed a to what occurred. 

the. 7th Street houtsc? 

riL .APPLETOLI 



A Yes. 

Q Did Drenka come to the house to see you? A Text 

Drenka was over there when I went. 

Q Didmeflcorne :in there and visit you and to to tour 

room .with you? A Atter when prerika go aWa,Manco.d go 

Away too and llarxgold•took a man about a ha1 hour 

cind**0, 

VAlmatir molt come into tbe room there to see ;yo.0 

tho rOonc., in 7c)- nuriber ment 

don't-Sure. 

:4 Did they go Vith you to a bigia_li0014 

fl And 1avels.02144. 411ter: 

Q, How much did eac 

Objected to as incompetorito OngatorialaUd irre3'ean1i 

and not binding upon the dekendantp. 

Objection overruled. Exoeption, 

A Some pa,y 02. 

Q, And some how much', A. .*„3. 

Mat did you do with tttp .MOney that 70U took. :rex 

thesie men or having coaa inter.courOe with you? 

Objected to au inoorap.etent irrairiVit lismateriil 

and not Aeadod in the indictment  

Objection su tained. • 



APPLMOn T withdravt-the queetioa*„ 

BY R. APPLWOV. 

Did yott give the money to Paul 3)rrika that tlictoi 

men gave you? 
• 

Objected to eis Incompetent; irre 

maberia1. •• 

To CO sut:ain the objection to the  fora o 

be 0044922, 

g e ne 

OWécted to ObleatiOn overruled1 Exception. 

q Hat'1004iAt06 Otk1Y41.1:.P441.Pg.V4.1.0k. in , _ 

tOgethort: A :41 01.7 ifOr ue bow much I . . . 

gwe Wm, 

About h winuoh?. A He opent alI'On me What..,I gav-10: 

That iu he told you be did? 

Objected to au having been alrea y answered. 

Objectiod overruled. 'Exception. 

u, love Pala Irenka? A Yea sir.. 

Objected to as indompetent. irrea0vant and Im4 

terial. 

Overrttled an4* exception  

Who was the first ilari ever a4 Isel441 intercourse 
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with you?. A Pa1Dren 

Objected to as incompletento irreieva..t and. 

Objection sustained, 

THB COUP: Strike out the answer and the Zu 

will disregard it. 

R •APPLETOIT: X think .tiow, it plainly. appeartrig 

that the rl had admitted that he  leved Paul Zien)tat 

that, the circumstances leading. Up to her entering .upon 

this life art) competent f r. this ;Jury to take into 

cOnsidorat ion i eterr!lininzç the facts. It seems 

to me it is competent to. i3hOw that the .3ir1 *as taken 

Iron .an honorable po ition a a servant ri (3etting 

5.„ -a ).onth„ 

B:OPPII object o cOunciQ. rkir any 6tatertent. 

VHS ,..,011RT4 Ther.o u no need to o into that.. 

UR. OPPS u aPProciate tbat these statements_ 

are all made or the purpose o PreJudicing the Jury. 

Tga COURT:

 

The Jury will d1bro,:-.4rd an ...-:,tatemen 

not borne out by he evidence, 

PLETOU 

Answer the ouostiOnS you 4 6 leave it IAPaul 

latver to bring out nr explain tion ho arit 

ZR, ZO-P 'taloa an exception to those reriar.kE3 

,at at* .that be p2as30a on the roccru, 
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'TEE 'COURT: The Zury will disregard the routar 

of the DistriatAttorney. 

BY MR APPI.,2OIT4 

How much money did you give to Sirenka 

Objected to as having been already answered. 

-Question Withdrawn,  

yo ta receive any money from any other loUree 

except from the mon Who had ual-:intercourse With you—l)id 

you receive .any money from any other source While you 

lived in the premise tiZO, East 79th Street in the County of New 

York, except the money volt received in pwment fOr next 

intercaurse that, rou,had vith men. 

Objected to a3 immaterial, 

pbjection- sustained. 

A1114"100 - I have to shay that he put the r4r1 

0.0re :for •tuo ifytirpouo f Causing her to cohabit 

• . wptift ioiA not her 4u3band., a.nd that th dsitondant 

received 'money on account o 1oMin( her there for that 

purpoSt4 00,11 T not eliminate that this f.,;ir1 received 

Money frorl any other tourde in the .7or1d except from 

prostitu Ili. 40 o ing tat 3he ,t:cot the meney only 

tram prostitutieji and that 311e delivered it to the 

. -defendant? 

TIM CIOULT* • dif.Lerence .deco it rake from 

tk,ii money comet 



101B. APPIATO1*1 n t 1,ribet it, 

BY 74*R„ .APPIXTON: 

Were you married to any ot the men that you had.' sexual. 

.intercourze With? A r n! ,t want to marry .nobd 

TiBT E COURT: 

Q, Were you married? - A No Sir, 

BY 7SR;, APPLETON; 

Q You were not married to any r the men with •Whom'you 

hid sexual intercourse?. A No zir,, 

g Did you 'draw 015, out at .the 1;atik. be:Pre you went over 

to 510 Nast 79th Street? A Ye z I, did, 

Q To om cua you ive that. money?.. A I ave it t:ci 
tlando.4., 

Ob je et ed. to az incompetent irrelevant and  immaterial 

Obj cation ovrrulod1 Except Jan, 

*d see vxhat ,tangolci aid with' the money? A IT 

Went away andhe bought some stuff. 

4 then e came baci(1 A Re ,cave back. 

4. And Drerlka otTao in iat.-1, A Yes!. 

And did rQzSee Ilangold give the money to Zrenkat. 

NO 0 0 0 LICAEINATIONI 
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ITON 1,3 T SCHROEDE R, (jailed as a witness 

on behalf of the people, being duly sworn and oxinkine4 - 

testified ai follow,: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY )1R, APPLETON: 

What is your business? A 502 East 79th 6treet1 

What is your business'? -A 0 ilee:tee of rents, oler—

cal work. 

Are you n the awl y of the •people Who own and oper—
a 

ate number of 'model apartment 11 uses. on 79th -Street? A Yes  

. They ificlude what lumbers? 

R. KOPP I 4.11. • concede that :she is.. the :agent 

of the landladY of tbe.prtnawee 510 gp.pt 79th Street. 

BY 1}L A 7iw0r:-

. Q PO,zott r'oclelledt the 24th December • 19.091 

24th/ 

el• The 29th? A Yes, 

0, Do yOU recollect law. 29th day of Decentb.oxi 3.09•2 A Y.  

Did you See the defendant,*a.ul Drenka ontl'iat day? A 

Yeas 

Was t e uo-=defendarit l'Eangold with hit/ Y 

Q Did they tisy .somothin o you? A They wanted to see 

4 small apartment 

BY TIED COURT: 

Q Ind they tell you hat? ATeo. 

BY ATI)LBT04.: 



o you in the 'presence of Drenka? A Yr. Vengpld owns in 

first and he asked- - 

Q Never mind what he said then -Aid DrenIca come 

after? -Ast. Yee. 

t happened via,e 1)znka1a ttiere 

eqr wanted to .ette a four. room apartment the goth 

OouiA y.ou tOaeOl?Or *at *aø  It 

take the apartment, 

q Who said that? A rt rango d and I asked one oft 

You said somethinm About munting tOv5ee.flapthefl 

what was said? A This was before Dr,nka came in. 

Q Did you o with Drenka to show him the aparttent? 

:pill you see What partnt.the Went tO 0116 

Imat apartment? .A 510 74 t YOth.aP4tftiptit 

:..itpArtraent 18 in .that houcel 'A Ye 

And on that loor 1Q that apartment? A Ground 

7110#1C, 



s-, viat pre.- a, said bot that? A• We too 

•,application, a gave,,..t. a..7posa of  
39 11th $treet OoOnTio.:tion...4::-.‘t4i1.01,-::.,_tlza,t was 

.040:i.:*47r,i  4_ 

Drenk14.a. 4;,41t044. here; A 

won t LAAY jt vihida on, ala 4 4 

Q.To4 don't kf101.7 iC1i .one Oaid it? A 

COAT 

VhS this ct1enunt proo.ent? A Y 

BY UR liVidV6ION: 

Who paid the rent who zoney? 

eeporati week stho pal4 *41 eA t W& ora 

don t )cnaw—it wa pat n the• ofteice, Z collect in that 

. tiono.e. 

NO CROSS 1XAMINATXONi 



or the peopLes being duly sworn, and. eztamined testified 

as follows; 

DIRtCT EXAMINATION BY MR. APPLLTOTT: 

q. What..vreei.po 0.- 1 

In the • month -4 40.nuary..W4t- Pr!.° 

Was this del'enda.nt Drenka there in that 3ta,t40/1 liDuiel 

A 

Q. Do you r epollect the Za0eco) Ires. 

That date? A Thp no* 0  

0. il0r0;i. 0)21a give rou biing. 103,13x.,$'ota 

were  the 0 vitale he 1;.las the-re 4 e(4'47o o a •Me00a4e* 

-Q 1 hand you this piece of paper and ao14. ota i?that 

•i tbé paper that 'the defendant Drenka gavre.yotw. A 

• The .P4p .404. Alarled in  evidence 001)10 Elcilletit. 

/AR •APPVEMiN3 11)o iau cOn06310: that thit3 

correct. interpretation of ti.2.e. 400.04,01 

MR.EOPP: I itma'ketfl'eyidenee? 

1T4 APPLETOX: The aittor ie in (viaerlioe'ind the. 

interpreter oX course i not, 

1E11, APPLETON May jiitharaw tte vitness to put 

the interoreter on the atandt 



L 0 TT I $ LuSTI G. oalled.0 a :witness in 'behalf o the 

'people* being duly sworn, and examined tea' tifi ed.: as foUow 

:DI4ECT *FX.V.I1.1 r AT TON B ME. APPLETON; 

Where do you liver A 1759 Madison Avenue.. 

silo! you Peoplet a Exhibit 1. and I ask you if you 

know in ..whoyt lat:guage that is rritten?, A In the 

ngarian languagii, 

1:so you read. the Hungarian Language? 44: Y 

tiat you .translate lungartan language into the EngliSh: 

anguage? A teL  

q Will you translate People' t 3. now  trezIEUn 

rion languae into th English. 1 e? This jø'`ste 

bad handwriting I ir4ll 1aav to 'take my time. 

.1c wial give yOu that? A"Be so kind and irt„ the 

girl will pall, te'.3.I her that I am here" *itnd. that tomorrow 

morning I will be taken to the 57th Street Court and *tell 

Mangold that he should not Say:OnYthing and'aer4 Ise isomethAflg. 

to at vith coffee. 33o to ity,4a arid  ityOu speak to the 

giri- if you can spealt tO tho girl, tell hen that  she does 

not make a bad life that X support lien* 

Q But that I support 'her. or Will support supt.?,, 

vrt h r.R 

tz That she does :not me a -bad lite but I support.. 
her? A Yes. 

Q Have you transaatod that correctly? A That as th• 



,001111 

best of my ability. 

THOMAS HXRPERresumes thes4na. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION COUTINIJED 1TR. APPLETON: 

Q What did. the def endant sa7 to you when he handed to yoi 

People.' Uhibit 10 A Ile asked re have it sent over by 

mtoeengerio 

NO CROSS Er9417.0101T; 

'E 1OPX.B 

UR OM IT your Nonoiu plegte X goy° to excludo 
tho itotrument of:Ceased. in.Oidenoe by the- Ditstriet 

torney upon the gr-Ottnd it ita incompetent, irrelevant 

and immaterial* 

THE WORT:. The inetrument was 4ivon by the Isms-

mats defendant to the doorixani 

t5t0 KOPP: It  contento aro incompetent, irrele-

vant and immaterial. 

LIR.APPLBTOM Br the defendant to .the doormen 

to be delivered* 

MB COURT: Motion denied* Ix eption0 

MR, OPP; I now rove to dismiss the indictment 

Upon the aroun4 that to people have tailed to ask, out 
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oae, In tliat connection I want to say that this defen4 

Section 2460 of 

he Penal .Code, 

THE COURT.: The Penal 

MR a..  rather. .;114t. $eotion 

provides that atir-pOrSon ho saJ.1 r0O.0%to. omy money 

r ,other .va404102,4 :*cissits or :.or oTi account oplaàing 

in 40; house og-prOOtitution:'or o);$0.eprat,mitpsr0 

41144911#c4r*-141MAPIr in th, $ aaeethiit thoro- :mono. 

• ovid.Onoe aduCet tn tiie eaec, ror Rollos!, can ind that 

0 0hg boon.tiOney pzid to the defendant by ths yos.lian 

the Erzo o1z can readily . rise that it not-014dt 

Out Celiketb adAse the intention of the legislature 

it 7a anrtbiiig, vxa to preventbarter 

.tromerrin tact ti a ataxia d10 rLave Xotitalattotrwas 
- 

responsible or this additiOn Vection•enaoted in 1.20 

±* irgçzxt called oompol4,130it protitixbiono Whai the• 

legislature intoidc b is: eelitidently to prevent 

n trading with 1.7o.yilen, It watf- net intended-to *ova', 

a case where a -man Or.O.inari17. an 

lives on the procee(an • 00 hor pro#tits../tionit. a.t: is govir-

ornod by the vagranw act. It -certain,. did not in-

tend to come under that eat 1,0324 71%40 i$ proved in this - 
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proved in this oast). u, ou1ii bolievs tor tho pitrposti,o 

makingout a prima cola% wises that this Iten renka, fad 

trit this Harz* woman or it he did 174,0t live Jjth her* it 

e engaged 'Otte flat an4he thereafter paid to him the 

ptoceecb o the prostitutiorz, you can readily goo that tere 

is no prima fa014- case, been 

beca!Arie &ter all it the usual caE o 

•nothing- eisso It in t a case tihoro Lce0 ivo 

a d charaeP a certain oollei4eratlon t placinZ of her 

here*, that consideration pusiAng either Xrort ath$ 

or..grota-the woman 4 That inusi to A eot/Siderit‘'. 

ion. I) 1./*Q11 Iaoari to s thb.ivAonec #t.54. 

tbi 041044.in to tho ur that wow* paid 

ironka or •)2O4 o, Oift2t.ø. VeE314 

nd that Oa1 4a2 tho. c sLdxaIiOn for hrn 

That ie40 Tar tiS Qo ;V300,10414; qt tic mono t 

0004 r ioia the pla,o13,001, hor tbore. Thxt it says 

tbat.:he must place her -them r 'Ow purpici,Se. 4:.pr OittitiOn 

.00-habitine with pori3O nu to tilom 144 Ot.,,Sorriaa.6 gow 

0_ course 10 tie u13lau1d oonocdo tobo net no  Ooneidera-

lion 13asing between the 12.0M.V.:latd °MO barn 00.64eatittg 

vith her,' it is ordnr oast oflamitlitution. Whore is 

there any proof that this degiazdant know that woman was 

cormittina prostitution in that houut in 79th Street. 

1 



there  ay.:11;4343 thaj this man evet7 pnt 

an e that autaü a At  to fa 

KB COURT:- How about the testimony or 

V:angold9 Vtangold testified that,. this Aefendant said. 

go -0ok ±'or gt, room r 02.afld th*ti frc 

the da7 on the'girl wiU in th bu flØ1uwe agredf 

at. :r1 woulc bwhore itt 

Assuaiing that theta is SW% eladen4e hero 

that _41v prostitution vta,e cbonitto(.1..411 

nttli:Atrevt.. 

A. !.0...•totatifted to that 

iR.VT"; pike g 111 .tew43.04.14: totaV,ter 

Wag imostirtut$0119 Asoume for th ike o 01$ 

that iTartgold'a.;* Droz14* cLi4 have that oti.t.iyera.0.104 

min epv prostitutitOi eNret togli 

at the. 1.30300‘i1iOri hz* otioe n• 

proUtuUon concerned/ 

TEE APPLINWN:ti The girl tootlfied that she had* sex-

ual interoortroe, 

MR. OPP: apprismiate that. Lact. 

THE COTIRT-4. The agerkt o. th,e house testified 

that this detend4nt wao present at  tile time the flat 

was hired. 21:1 six% teptified that sile, occupied the 

flat and had improper rolati,ono with rlen nono of 



whom were married to her. angold 

this defendant: said to hi 

y judgmerit. one for tilt) zr 

**titled to wh t 

..not this f.ie•gezzdailt. unlaw.rula.y.•rooeiyed- money • oi.l...aocount• • 

Of P,14oin. c fna1e in th6.t.• place for te plirpoee:ot 

causing-. her to, ...00h034t. male :.p era Onei to *he* 

. 41.e•.Wae:. not roArri,e4.• 

KOP1s.: 'And y"ta.31.91.d furttIO.** on the q,neotiOn 

receivIng money on account 

est1on'or th6 wIlttb.Or'.. 01101 

paid .on ip. a vipo 

VIE MUM:  

MI OP?.: 

Exactly. 

L tako an oxpeption. 

(1,0Tra: It a 

tliztariee whether the peOple have rn.q.do a oaee,. and. then 

.queetiet .for Vhe Awy to awl fro*, 

eviden00. 

rn. OPP: YoU'dorym$—motiOn to diotiE0 

NURTz Ye 

Exception. 

T 

TR KO  I noi ronew motion t 

tment upon the Qunds previowly 

llotiondenittd 4nd fteoption 



1CR. VITT: X"aa2c your tfonor t. 

fury to acquit the defendant, 

trotion deitied, Exception.. 
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